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Investigative Process 

The investigator, Chad Davidson, was fully responsible for organizing and 
conducting the investigation. This included periodic input from Katie Rutherford, 
Weston Lakes City Attorney, employed by Olson & Olson, LLP. Premiums were 
placed on first-hand witnesses, supporting documentation, and resources that 
would aid in determining the veracity of McJunkin’s allegations. Witnesses were 
selected on the basis of first-hand knowledge and information related specifically 
to those allegations.   

In the initial phase of the investigation, detailed interrogatories were 
developed for McJunkin. As a predicate for her interview, a set of interrogatories 
was developed by the investigator for completion by McJunkin to aid in clarifying 
and exploring her written allegations. McJunkin provided detailed responses and 
supporting documentation to those interrogatories, which were then used as the 
basis for interview questions.  

On March 2, 2021, McJunkin was interviewed by the investigator over a 
period of several hours. She also was contacted on an as-needed basis during the 
course of the investigation for clarification and to obtain additional documents and 
information. 

Based on their proximity to and knowledge of many aspects of McJunkin’s 
grievances, each member of the Weston Lakes City Council was interviewed for 
the investigation. Interrogatories were developed and used as a template during 
each of those interviews.   

For several months following Neal’s election in November 2019, office 
space for Weston Lakes city officials (including Neal and McJunkin) was leased 
from the City of Simonton, Texas, a neighboring community. Based on their close 
proximity and first-hand knowledge of both McJunkin and Neal during that period, 
Jennifer Ward, Simonton City Administrator, and Erica Molina, City Secretary, 
were interviewed during the investigation.  

Job Description – City Secretary 

The position of City Secretary is a statutory position required by Texas state 
law and the City Charter. The City Secretary is a sworn officer of the city, 
confirmed and employed by City Council. Daily supervision of the position is 
delegated by City Council to the Mayor. In addition to the position’s statutory 
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requirements, the City Secretary maintains the city seal, manages all city records 
and documents, performs city administrative duties, and maintains the city hall 
lobby during designated open hours. Several individuals interviewed referred to the 
City Secretary as the communications hub of city government. 

Two job descriptions for the position of Weston Lakes City Secretary are 
provided under Exhibit 1. The first document, with a stamped city seal, is the 
current, approved document. However, in conjunction with the City Attorney, City 
Council subsequently developed an updated version of that document, anticipated 
to be approved during an upcoming City Council meeting. Accordingly, that 
version should be viewed as the de facto job description for the City Secretary. 
Since the latest version pending approval is an extension and update of the current 
position description, both documents will be viewed as authoritative for the 
purposes of this investigation and report. 

Mayor Ramona Neal 

In a letter from Olson & Olson dated February 26, 2021 (Exhibit 2), the 
City Attorney advised Mayor Ramona Neal of certain expectations regarding her 
participation and cooperation during the forthcoming investigation. A full listing of 
those expectations was addressed by the City Attorney including, but not limited 
to, the following: 

• “Make reasonable arrangements of time and place for your interview by (the 
investigator)”, and  
 

• “Recognize that the City wants to hear directly from you and that Counsel 
cannot speak for you.” 

Interrogatories were developed by the investigator for use during Neal’s 
anticipated interview. However, repeated, documented efforts to enlist her 
cooperation and participation were unsuccessful. Neal was ultimately not 
interviewed during the investigation.  

Exhibit 2 includes a detailed timeline, narrative, and supporting attachments 
documenting efforts to engage Mayor Neal during the investigation.  
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Grievances 

In correspondence dated January 2, 2021, Jenni McJunkin, City Secretary, 
submitted a letter of grievance to the Weston Lakes City Council. That eight-page 
document included a range of allegations against Mayor Ramona Neal Exhibit 3.   

McJunkin’s allegations essentially fall into two categories.  

• First, McJunkin alleges that since Neal’s election in November 2019, 
she has repeatedly engaged in a range of actions and behaviors that 
have created a hostile work environment.  
 

• Second, McJunkin alleges that Neal has engaged in workplace 
“illegalities”; these claims include, but are not limited to, diminishing 
and deluding the duties and responsibilities of the position of City 
Secretary. She claims such actions have occurred without approval or 
authority granted by City Council and have resulted in preventing her 
from performing many of her statutorily-required job duties. 

_________________________________ 

Investigator Note: The purpose of this investigation is to determine the facts and 
the veracity of McJunkin’s allegations. Any opinion regarding the legality of those 
facts is beyond the scope of this investigation and report. 

_________________________________ 

Hostile Work Environment 
Age Discrimination 

 McJunkin’s memorandum of grievances to City Council included allegations 
of age discrimination against Neal. Specifically, McJunkin alleged that Neal had 
referred to her age in private and public conversations in conjunction with her 
efforts to have her terminated. In one instance, McJunkin stated Neal specifically 
asked her age. Given the potential seriousness of such charges, all seven other 
individuals interviewed during the investigation were specifically asked if they had 
heard or witnessed Neal make any reference to McJunkin’s age. One Alderman did 
recall such a reference, but was unable to provide additional details given the 
length of time since the event.  
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 While troubling, the investigation determined that a single witness account 
was not considered sufficient corroboration to conclusively support McJunkin’s 
allegation of age discrimination. 

Threats to Terminate  

McJunkin alleges that “from day 1” of her tenure, Neal began threatening to 
have her terminated. On Page 2 of her allegations, McJunkin stated, “Not realizing 
the City Secretary serves at the discretion of City Council, Mayor Ramona Neal 
declared her desire to replace me with one of her friends immediately upon her 
election.” She alleged that Neal repeated that message in private conversation on at 
least one other occasion. She added that Neal provided no explanation or basis for 
her threats other than a desire to replace her with a “friend”.  

On Page 7, McJunkin also alleged that Neal “expressed publicly that she 
wanted to replace me with her friend.” That allegation was supported and cross-
checked by multiple individuals interviewed during the investigation, including 
Weston Lakes City Council members.  

In addition, prior to and following Neal’s election, Weston Lakes city 
government rented space at the Simonton, Texas, City Hall. Both Neal and 
McJunkin officed at that location and frequently interfaced with that municipality’s 
City Administrator and City Secretary, both of whom also officed in the same 
building. Accordingly, with first-hand knowledge of the relationship between Neal 
and McJunkin, both were interviewed for this investigation. During their 
interviews, both Simonton officials confirmed they had in fact heard Neal state her 
desire and intention to terminate McJunkin, despite Neal literally having been only 
days into her tenure. Both officials added that Neal provided no basis or rationale 
for that action, such as poor job performance.  

Summarized, the investigation determined that multiple individuals with 
first-hand knowledge of the relationship between Neal and McJunkin verified the 
City Secretary’s allegation, specifically, that on multiple occasions Neal had 
repeatedly and publicly stated her intent to terminate McJunkin’s employment, 
providing no reason or rationale for that action.  

Executive Session – January 2020 

In January 2020, during a City Council Special Session, Neal proposed that 
McJunkin be terminated. The City Secretary was not present in that meeting. 
While the particulars of Special Session meetings are confidential, the 
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investigation determined via interviews that Neal’s basis for this proposed action 
was attributed to insubordination by McJunkin. However, Neal cited no specific 
examples of such conduct and provided no performance appraisal, disciplinary 
action, or other documentation to support the claim, as might have reasonably been 
expected prior to proposing such drastic action. 

For context, several City Council members observed during their individual 
interviews that, while Neal had been in office for approximately eight weeks at the 
time of the January Executive Session, McJunkin had been employed by the City 
since 2013 and in her current position as City Secretary since 2014. Each member 
was specifically asked during their interview for their assessment of McJunkin’s 
job performance, prior and subsequent to Neal’s election. Each member’s response 
was positive and included comments ranging from “excellent” to “above average.” 
Moreover, several members attributed any potentially negative issues related to 
McJunkin’s job performance to Neal’s “toxic” style of supervision and 
communication, even during her short (at that time) period in office. 

City Council took no action on Neal’s proposal during the January Executive 
Session, thus denying her proposal to terminate McJunkin. City Attorney Jay 
Zhang provided a legal opinion to City Council in September of 2020 that 
reiterated the fact that City Council has sole authority to appoint and/or remove 
municipal officers such as the City Secretary (Exhibit 4). 

As previously established, the practice of the Weston Lakes City Council, 
prior and subsequent to Neal’s election, has been to delegate responsibility for 
daily supervision of the City Secretary to the Mayor. However, consistent with 
Zhang’s memorandum, City Council retains full authority to appoint and/or 
remove individuals from that position. 

Executive Session February - 2020 

On Page 2 of her grievance letter, McJunkin wrote, “Subsequent to the 
January 2020 City Council meeting, and discovering that she could not unilaterally 
replace me, Mayor Neal incorporated additional tactics in furtherance of creating 
an extremely hostile work environment, including the intensified efforts to belittle 
and berate me via text and email.”  

______________________________ 

Investigator Note: Allegations of Neal’s efforts to “belittle and berate (her) via 
email and text” will be explored under a subsequent heading in this report. 
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_______________________________ 

According to McJunkin, one tactic used by Neal was to reduce certain 
aspects of her (McJunkin’s) job responsibilities and, by so doing, minimize the role 
and impact of the position of City Secretary. McJunkin claimed this was part of an 
overall attempt by Neal to make her job increasingly difficult, create a hostile work 
environment, and to force her to resign. McJunkin mentioned one of her job duties 
which Neal had targeted as particularly significant.   

In February 2020, another Executive Session was convened with the stated 
agenda of reviewing the job duties of the City Secretary. During that meeting, Neal 
offered her opinion that the City Secretary was overloaded and “burdened” by her 
current assignment. She lobbied to have certain daily responsibilities removed 
and/or transferred from her daily routine.  For example, Neal proposed that 
responsibility for managing the City website be transferred to one of the Mayor’s 
associates. McJunkin stated that the City’s website is a social media platform that 
serves as the singular, official voice for city affairs. It communicates a range of 
public information including, but not limited to, official announcements and 
agendas for City Council meetings. As such, it is the City’s official “mouthpiece” 
for communication with city residents.  

Both job descriptions included under Exhibit 1 designate responsibility for 
the City’s website to the City Secretary. Those documents, the existing version and 
the version currently pending City Council approval, stipulate that the City 
Secretary “Maintains the City Website” (current version) and “Maintain integrity 
of the City website” (pending version).  

During the February 2020 Executive Session, City Council again took no 
action on any proposed change to the City Secretary’s job responsibilities. Council 
thereby denied Neal’s proposed transfer of certain job responsibilities from the 
City Secretary to the Mayor and/or others. That denial included the requested 
transfer of responsibility for the City’s website. 

Despite specific responsibilities enumerated in the City Secretary’s job 
description and the ruling by City Counsel in the February Special Session 
meeting, in April, Neal arbitrarily initiated the following actions: 

 

1) Removed the City Secretary as Website Administrator and assumed 
that title and related responsibilities.   

 



Page 8 of 35 
 

2) Created the unpaid, part-time position of Media Coordinator and 
assigned Tricia Wright in that capacity, and 

 

3) Significantly limited the City Secretary’s posting access to the website, 
restricting those to largely administrative announcements (City 
Council agenda, etc.) and items approved by Neal.  

Neal’s actions diluted and minimized key elements of the City Secretary’s 
job, contrary to Council’s expressed wishes. Beyond that, her actions were taken 
with neither statutory nor Council knowledge or approval.  

In early March 2021, Neal, as Website Administrator, posted an article on 
the City’s website summarizing the distribution of COVID 19-related Personal 
Protective Equipment PPE in the community (Exhibit 5). The content or accuracy 
of the posting is irrelevant and beyond the scope of this investigation. However, 
the article posted by Neal was done so with neither the knowledge nor approval of 
City Council. In addition, that action bypassed the normal checks and balances 
adhered to by the City Secretary for postings on the site. 

Within that context, City Attorney Zhang’s previously introduced 
memorandum, included under Exhibit 4, explicitly notes the following limits on 
mayoral actions in a Type B municipality (bolding added for emphasis):  

• “Because the mayor carries out the duties as promulgated and 
directed by council, a mayor in a general law city does not have veto 
power as official actions of the City must be taken only by and 
through its governing body (city council).” 
 

• “Thus, acts of the mayor… are ineffectual without express 
authorization from council.” 

 

• “Any action taken beyond those authorized (or delegated) by city 
council may be challenged as void.” 

“Efforts to Intimidate Me into Resigning” 

McJunkin alleges that Neal has engaged in actions that had the effect, if not 
the specific intent, of frustrating McJunkin, limiting her ability to satisfactorily 
perform her job functions, and forcing her into voluntarily resigning her position. 
In addition to removing McJunkin as Website Administrator, McJunkin alleges 
Neal frequently withholds or fails to return city documents in a timely manner, 
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limiting access to important vendors and email accounts, and preventing the timely 
processing of checks for payroll and accounts payable.  

McJunkin alleges she is prohibited by Neal from opening any 
correspondence addressed to the Mayor that is sent to the City’s postal address. 
That prohibition is particularly confusing and inefficient as mail and 
correspondence sent to the City’s postal address is considered City business, not 
personal business. According to McJunkin, this prohibition often prevents her from 
fully performing her job, such as date-stamping, recording, and appropriately filing 
City communications and documents.   

McJunkin alleges Neal’s efforts to force her to resign have ranged from 
relatively petty to significant. She alleges the cumulative impact of those actions, 
particularly over an extended period, has created frustration, hindered her ability to 
perform her official job duties, and often resulted in negative administrative 
outcomes for the City and a stressful work environment for her. 

The investigation found substantial support for McJunkin’s allegations. 
Neal’s actions have in fact created significant obstacles in the performance of the 
City Secretary’s job responsibilities, many of which are legally mandated. 
Moreover, those actions significantly have impacted the City’s ability to function 
in an efficient and effective manner, resulting in administrative dysfunction and, in 
some cases, additional expense to the City.  

A key aspect of the City Secretary’s job function is to serve as the repository 
for all official city documents and business, including retention and management 
of files, documents, contracts, vendor accounts, creating payroll checks, and 
paying accounts payable invoices. Often these documents require Neal’s signature, 
for example, to authorize the generation of checks. According to McJunkin, 
verified by the investigation, Neal frequently withholds or otherwise fails to return 
City documents in a timely manner. Representative examples include, but are not 
limited to, the following: 

• Failure to return signed minutes of City Council meetings to City Secretary 
for electronic entry; in some instances, backlogs of unreturned documents 
have extended for months.  
 

• Failure to return official contracts and documents for filing and retention. 
For example, Exhibit 6 includes documents that show the City’s 2020 lease 
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for office space was signed by Neal on January 14, 2020, but not returned to 
the City Secretary for computer input until July 30, 2020. 
 

• Failure to approve and return bills and invoices in a timely manner to allow 
for check generation by the City Secretary, frequently resulting in delinquent 
payments to vendors (e.g., monthly lease payments), late fees, and service 
interruptions (e.g., AT&T, Nextiva, Managed.com, etc.). 

Refusal to Provide Key to Office Building  

On Page 4 of her memorandum to City Council, McJunkin alleges, “For 
some unknown reason, Mayor Neal has adamantly refused to provide me with a 
key to the building, even though she has been directed by the City Council to do 
so.” She alleges that failure to provide her with a key has often resulted in 
significant frustration and personal imposition, adding that it is a “tremendous and 
unnecessary waste of time to address and work around this issue.”  

The investigation verifies that Neal continues to refuse to provide McJunkin 
with a key to the building lobby that houses city offices. In fact, McJunkin has 
been without a key to that facility since office space was rented by the City at that 
location in early 2020.  

For context, the City’s administrative offices are currently located in a 
commercial building in Fulshear, Texas. That building includes an entrance lobby 
which must be traversed to gain entry into the City’s offices. Neal has provided 
McJunkin with a key to the office inside the building but denied her a key to the 
lobby door. As a result, McJunkin can enter the building only when it is unlocked 
or when another individual is present to allow her access. Conversely, if McJunkin 
is the last person in the building in the evening, she cannot lock the lobby door.   

McJunkin stated Neal has told her that she does not need a key to the 
building. She has further been instructed by Neal to contact her via telephone or 
text message in the event she needs to either enter or depart the building lobby. 
Neal’s residence in Weston Lakes is reportedly minutes from the office building.  

On one occasion, McJunkin noted that, on a day when she was the last 
person to leave the building, she was unable to make contact with Neal. On that 
date, however, McJunkin stated that she had to promptly depart at the end of her 
scheduled workday. As a result, the building lobby was left unlocked for the night.  
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McJunkin was contacted the following day by the building landlord who was 
obviously concerned about the building being left unlocked. When McJunkin 
related her story, the landlord told McJunkin he would provide her with a key to 
the building lobby, subject to approval by Neal. Neal continues to deny that 
approval.  

McJunkin repeatedly requested a key to the building, only to be denied by 
Neal on each occasion. Exhibit 7 includes emails to and from McJunkin/Neal 
dated September 28, 2020, which typically summarize those discussions and 
highlight McJunkin’s frustration at being denied a key to the office building. 
(Note: McJunkin’s email references Trent Vacek, building landlord mentioned in 
prior paragraph.) 

McJunkin also recalled a recent event in which she needed entry into the 
building during a heavy snow/ice storm. However, she was again unable to make 
contact with Neal, resulting in her again being unable to gain entry into the 
building.  

During the investigation, documents, video recordings of City Council 
meetings, and direct responses from City Council members clearly demonstrate 
several points: 

• Neal has continued to deny McJunkin a key to the office building lobby. 
 

• Every City Council member interviewed during the investigation stated that 
McJunkin should be provided a building key and noted that Neal had been 
requested to do so on multiple occasions. Exhibit 8/Item #2 includes a 
recent email from a City Council member again requesting an agenda item 
to discuss providing the City Secretary with a key to the building. (Note: 
Neal denied the Alderman’s request to include that topic as an agenda item.) 
 

• The issue has been a continuous and a contentious issue between McJunkin, 
Neal, and City Council since early 2020 when space was rented at the 
Fulshear location. 
 

• Neal has been instructed by City Council to provide McJunkin with a key to 
the building. 
 

• Neal has repeatedly defied direction from City Council and continues to 
refuse to provide a building key to McJunkin.  
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• Neal and the Emergency Management Coordinator appear to be the only 
current City employees with keys to the building lobby. (Note: Neal’s 
husband is the EMC.) 

In summary, the investigation finds that it is not unreasonable to expect a city 
official who works regular hours three days each week be provided a key to the 
building’s lobby to allow unfettered access to their office. One would arguably be 
useless without the other. It is clear that Neal’s repeated denial of McJunkin’s 
requests to be provided, particularly in defiance of specific City Council directives, 
has resulted in significant frustration and occasional hardship for the City 
Secretary.  

The investigation failed to produce any evidence that would reasonably or 
legitimately support Neal’s repeated denial of McJunkin’s request. In fact, based 
on documentation and first-hand accounts, a straight line can be drawn from Neal’s 
actions to McJunkin’s allegation that Neal engaged in toxic behavior that created a 
hostile work environment designed to affect her voluntary resignation.  

The investigation found that Neal’s actions were wholly unsupported, 
unwarranted, unnecessary, and contributed to a frustrating and hostile work 
environment for McJunkin. It also found that action was in direct defiance of a 
City Council directive. 

 

 

Toxic Management/Communication Style 

On Page 2 of her grievance letter to City Council, McJunkin alleges that she 
was repeatedly subjected to harassment by Neal. She alleges she has been treated 
with disdain and routinely “berated and belittled… (by Neal) in an apparent effort 
to intimidate me into resigning.” She charges Neal’s conduct toward her was been 
“malicious”, “toxic”, intended to force her voluntary resignation as Weston Lakes 
City Secretary. 

As established, a total of eight individuals were interviewed for this 
investigation. Each interviewee stated they had witnessed Neal engage in hostile 
and disrespectful conduct toward McJunkin, an eight-year City employee. In words 
and in actions, several interviewees used terms such as “bullying” and 
“disrespectful” to describe Neal’s conduct toward McJunkin.  
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In addition to first-hand witnesses, hundreds of documents were reviewed 
during the course of the investigation. Many were email communications between 
Neal and McJunkin, others were hand-written notes and disciplinary forms. 
Particularly from a supervisor to subordinate perspective, numerous documents 
produced and reviewed during the investigation can be described, both in content 
and in tone, as remarkable and noteworthy. The next several exhibits present 
representative samples of such communications.  

Exhibit 9 includes an email exchange between McJunkin and Neal. In the 
first email to Neal dated December 21, 2020, McJunkin provides a brief 
observation concerning an email regarding energy conservation in the building.  

On December 29, Neal replied to McJunkin as follows: 

“Jenni, 

Thank you for the commentary, however, as a city employee it is not your 
place to comment on or instruct elected officials on how to do the job they are 
elected to do. In the future, please refrain from reading emails and providing 
your thoughts on what should be done. 

Signed, Mayor Ramona Neal” 

On December 30, 2020, McJunkin responded to Neal’s email, copying her 
email to City Council (see also Exhibit 9): 

 “Mayor, 

I am not just an employee but the City Secretary, which is an office of the City 
Government. It is appropriate for me to read, comment and respond to emails. 
Just because I make a statement does not mean I am instructing you or 
Council. 

 Signed, Jenni McJunkin 

Neal’s response essentially instructed McJunkin not to do her job, 
specifically, to refrain from reading city correspondence and offering input, 
regardless of the topic or her experience or expertise in the matter. 

 Despite the tone and content of Neal’s communication, McJunkin’s 
response was reasonable, restrained, and respectful. 
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 Exhibit 10 includes an email from Neal to McJunkin dated February 18, 
2020. For context, that email was written in February 2020, weeks after Neal 
attempted to have McJunkin terminated. After that attempt was unsuccessful, 
McJunkin alleges that Neal “intensified” her efforts and personal attacks to create a 
hostile work environment and force McJunkin’s resignation. (previously 
discussed in this report on Page 6 titled “Executive Session – January 2020 
(See also Page 2 of McJunkin’s Letter to Council).  

In her February 18 communication under Exhibit 10, Neal addressed her 
email to “Mrs. Jenni McJunkin”. The investigation notes that as a particularly 
unusual manner for addressing a business email, arguably intended as a subtle 
attempt to threaten or intimidate. 

Neal’s email levels a range of accusations against McJunkin, including 
insubordination and fraud. She uses threatening and accusatory verbiage.   

For example, paragraph 4 of Neal’s email reads as follows: 

“These are examples of insubordination and they will not be tolerated. I am 
your boss, Chief Administrative officer, Chief Executive Officer of Weston 
Lakes, acting Judge for the city and Emergency Management Director for the 
City of Weston Lakes. You will treat me with the respect this office deserves.” 

Continuing in paragraph 5… 

“You will follow all of my directives as I am mayor and you are a municipal 
officer bound by the law to do so. Everything that goes on in the city office 
by me per the law… I am the highest officer in Weston lakes and I must be 
informed before action is taken in anything to do with city business… You 
will ensure this is done, regardless of who directs you to do something.” 

In paragraph 6, Neal accuses McJunkin of fraud and of usurping her authority: 

“Further, we will discuss why you have put your name on mail that should be 
addressed to me… imagine my surprise when I saw the honorable Jenni 
McJunkin on mail… There is no doubt that this should go to the mayor not 
the city secretary – only judges and mayors are titled honorable, not city 
secretaries.”  

Neal continues… 
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“Another example of you attempting to usurp my authority (by not allowing 
me to open mail for me) and fraud to say you hold an office that you do not. 
When mail says honorable, it is for the mayor or the judge both offices of 
which, in the city of Weston Lakes, are filled by me.” 

Neal concludes the email with the following instruction to McJunkin: 

 “We will discuss this email further, print it out so we can review it.” 

 Signed, Mayor Ramona Neal, City of Weston Lakes 

Again, for context, Neal’s comments are directed at the City Secretary, a 
municipal officer, and (at that time), a seven-year employee of the City of Weston 
Lakes. Such language is considered clear evidence of attempts to bully, threaten and 
intimidate a subordinate employee.  

Exhibit 10 also includes McJunkin’s response to Neal’s email. Her opening 
comment reads as follows: 

“Mayor: 

This email is written in response to your February 18, 2020, email in which 
you make a number of incorrect presumptions and accuse me of various things, 
including insubordination. With respect, your comments on each point could 
not be further from the truth and are incredibly hurtful.” (Bolded added for 
emphasis) 

McJunkin’s email addressed Neal’s allegation of insubordination: 

“You said in your email my actions were examples of insubordination. I 
strongly disagree. If anything, they are examples of me working to maintain a 
stable and secure office operating environment while ensuring security of city-
owned equipment and information.” 

McJunkin strongly contested Neal’s allegation that she had engaged in fraud 
and had “usurped” her (Neal’s) authority by coopting her job title or the term 
“honorable”: 

“Regarding the use of the term fraud in your email to me, I take great issue 
with you questioning my ethics in this way. I have never claimed an office of title 
that I don’t hold. With respect, you should be more careful with the words you 
choose prior to committing them.” (Bolded added for emphasis) 
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On Pages 7-8 of her grievance letter to Council, McJunkin petitions Council 
to “intervene” and provide specific remedies to resolve her allegations of hostile 
work environment against Neal. Repeatedly, those remedies are specifically 
directed toward her treatment by Neal. They include, but are not limited the 
following: 

• “That (Neal) immediately cease her personal attacks on me, my character, or 
my employment.” 
 

• “That (Neal) immediately cease accusing me of insubordination related to 
my performance of my official duties as City Secretary.” 
 

• “That the City Council provide written guidance to (Neal) regarding their 
expectation of how city employees are to be treated with dignity and 
respect…” 

As established, this investigation examined hundreds of documents and 
incidents. Representative examples such as those included in this report under 
Exhibits 9 and 10 clearly support McJunkin’s allegations that she was routinely 
“berated”, “belittled”, and treated in a disrespectful manner by her supervisor.  
Additional examples of toxic and malicious behavior are discussed in conjunction 
with incidents under Exhibits 16 and 20.  

“Withholding of or Delay in Receiving Pay…”  

Several weeks after her election in November 2019, McJunkin alleged that 
Neal attempted to have her terminated during a January 2020 City Council special 
session. That effort was rejected by Council, effectively determining it was without 
merit.  

Following that unsuccessful effort, Page 2 of McJunkin’s letter to Council 
states, “Subsequent to the January 2020 City Council meeting, and discovering that 
she could not unilaterally replace me, Mayor Neal incorporated additional tactics 
in furtherance of creating an extremely hostile work environment…” She also cited 
“withholding of or delay in receiving pay” (Page 7) as an example of an additional 
“tactic” intended to harass her and result in her voluntary resignation. 

In February 2020, McJunkin stated that Neal began to question the terms and 
conditions of her compensation. As City Secretary, she is paid on a bi-monthly 
basis and was required to present her payroll timesheet for Neal’s approval every 
two weeks. Increasingly during this period, McJunkin alleged that Neal questioned 
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her hourly rate of pay, rate of overtime compensation, and travel (mileage) pay for 
use of her vehicle to perform City business. Neal stated that she could find no 
record of official City Council action officially granting the City Secretary an 
increase in pay to her current rate of $18.00 per hour. Neal continued to sign 
McJunkin’s timesheets but also continued to insist that McJunkin produce a 
historical City Council agenda item explicitly documenting that increase.   

McJunkin responded by providing Neal with historical documentation, 
including timesheets, that date her increase from $16.00 to $18.00 per hour 
beginning the pay period of October 1, 2018 (thirteen months prior to Neal’s 
election). Additional documentation was provided, but Neal continued to demand a 
documented City Council agenda item approving that action.  

On July 31, for the pay period ending that day, Neal refused to sign 
McJunkin’s timesheet. Moreover, in returning that unsigned timesheet, she 
presented McJunkin with a written letter of disciplinary action for failing to 
provide documentation supporting her current rate of pay. 

Documentation and first-hand witness accounts were used to reconstruct the 
events that occurred from February through July 2020, culminating in written 
disciplinary action against McJunkin on July 31, 2020, and delay in processing her 
check for that pay period. 

The investigation verified that Neal began to explore the basis and origin of 
McJunkin’s compensation in February 2020. Exhibit 11 includes two documents. 
The first document is a timesheet for the pay period ending September 30, 2018, 
which shows McJunkin’s gross pay of $414.40 for 25.9 hours worked, a pay rate of 
$16.00 per hour. The second document is McJunkin’s timesheet for the pay period 
ending October 15, 2018, which shows McJunkin’s gross pay for 56.0 hours 
worked to be $1,008.00, a pay rate of $18.00. Those documents establish the City 
Secretary’s hourly rate of pay increased by $2.00 per hour effective for the pay 
period October 1-15, the first pay period of the City’s 2019 fiscal year. 

Time sheets and paycheck stubs through January 1 through June 30, 2020, 
included under Exhibit 12 verify that McJunkin’s rate of pay remained at $18.00 
per hour through June 30, 2020.  

Exhibit 13 shows a document titled City Secretary that shows detailed 
compensation terms for McJunkin’s position. It specifically states “Increase pay to 
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$18.00 per hour.” That document is signed by McJunkin and by Neal’s predecessor 
former Weston Lakes Mayor Mary Rose Zdunkewicz and dated August 28, 2018. 

In response to her inquiries beginning in February 2020, Neal was provided 
each of these documents to conclusively demonstrate the legitimacy of McJunkin’s 
increase in pay, including the amount and date of implementation.  

In addition to those documents, Neal was informed that in August 2018, the 
Weston Lakes City Council conducted a budget workshop to develop the City’s 
budget for 2019, with its fiscal year commencing on October 1, 2019. Aldermen 
who participated in that meeting verified that a pay increase for the City Secretary 
equivalent to $2.00 per hour was incorporated into the annual salary for that 
position in the 2019 budget. That budget, approved during the September City 
Council meeting, included the City Secretary’s new annual salary as a line item. As 
explained to Neal, there would not have been explicit minutes or City Council 
approval notes for the City Secretary’s budgeted pay increase, as Neal had 
demanded, because the increase was incorporated as a lump sum line item in the 
forthcoming year’s budget.  

Briefly recapping, the date of the documentation signed by Mayor 
Zdunkewicz, August 28, 2018, and the amount and date of McJunkin’s pay 
increase, October 1, 2018, are consistent with the dates of the 2018 City Council 
budget workshop and McJunkin’s increased pay rate at the beginning of the 2019 
fiscal year. They also are completely consistent with the information and the 
timeline provided to Neal in response to her inquiries in 2020. That information 
further explains why no City Council meeting minutes existed explicitly approving 
that increase.  

Neal refused to accept McJunkin’s explanation, documentation, and timeline of 
events. Exhibit 14 includes McJunkin’s timesheet for the pay period July 1 – July 
15, 2020. That document includes initialed approvals from two Aldermen (BR and 
LH), as well as initialed approval from Neal (RN). However, it also included 
multiple hand-written annotations from Neal stating she would approve this 
timesheet but would “Need paperwork where council approved the higher rate per 
hour.” Another annotation states “Need paperwork where council approved the 
mileage.” “Paperwork” referenced by Neal had been established as minutes from a 
City Council meeting expressly documenting approval for McJunkin’s current rate 
of pay, discussed in the previous paragraph. Further, absent such “paperwork”, 
Neal threatened to deduct certain timesheet items from McJunkin’s next paycheck.  
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McJunkin protested, again arguing that that such “paperwork” was non-
existent. The investigation previously established that McJunkin’s current rate of 
pay of $18.00 per hour had been in effect since October 1, 2018, a period of almost 
22 months. 

At that point, McJunkin stated during her interview that she felt she was 
being “set up”. Specifically, since February, Neal had demanded that she produce 
documentation that simply did not exist - a record of an agenda item specifying her 
terms and conditions of compensation approved during a prior City Council 
meeting. For months, Neal had rejected McJunkin’s detailed, documented, 
explanation and timeline of the events and history of her salary increase, including 
a document signed and dated by her (Neal’s) predecessor, included under Exhibit 
13. 

In an attempt to resolve the issue, McJunkin then suggested that Neal 
include the City Secretary’s compensation package as an official agenda item for 
approval during the next City Council meeting. Neal responded that such action 
might resolve the issue going forward but did nothing to resolve the past. 
McJunkin stated she took that comment as an implied threat that she might be 
required to “reimburse” the City for the variance in her past wages ($2.00 per hour) 
possibly dating back to October 1, 2018.   

On July 30, McJunkin presented her timesheet to Neal for approval for the 
pay period ending July 31, 2020, included under Exhibit 15. McJunkin recalled 
that Neal stopped by her desk late in the business day as she (Neal) was departing 
the office. Neal refused to sign the timesheet and handed it to McJunkin. Neal also 
simultaneously presented McJunkin with another document titled “Employee 
Notice of Disciplinary Action” Exhibit 16. Neal demanded that McJunkin read 
and sign the document as she stood over her desk. 

After reading the disciplinary form, McJunkin stated she was “stunned” by 
Neal’s action. She refused to sign the disciplinary form, stating she did not agree 
with it. Neal signed (but did not date) the disciplinary form and departed the office.   

Following Neal’s departure, McJunkin said she was “shaken” by the event. 
She had just been denied approval for her bi-monthly paycheck AND received a 
letter of disciplinary action from her supervisor for an issue over which she had no 
control. 

_______________________ 
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Investigator Note: McJunkin expressed extreme frustration and discomfort 
that her entire conversation with Neal on July 30 had been witnessed by an 
individual alleged to be a Weston Lakes resident and personal friend of Neal’s. 
McJunkin expressed anger that anybody, much less a personal acquaintance of the 
Mayor, would have been allowed to stand in her office doorway and witness a 
difficult and sensitive discussion with a subordinate. Moreover, McJunkin stated 
that the same individual had also been present and witnessed two previous 
discussions with Neal regarding her timesheets and related issues.    

Discussions with subordinates involving disciplinary matters are always 
important and sensitive matters, particularly when they involve the presentation of 
written disciplinary action. That Neal permitted a personal acquaintance to witness 
such an event is problematic. Her motive for conducting that conversation in the 
presence of a personal acquaintance would have been explored in detail, should 
Neal have been interviewed during this investigation.  

____________________ 

Returning to Exhibit 16, in both content and tone, Neal’s letter of discipline 
to McJunkin was remarkable. The document read in part, as follows: 

“This timesheet does not have proper back-up required by law. Without 
documented approval from council, mayoral approval may not take place. The 
mayor may not approve a pay raise – it must go before council… Payrate and 
overtime rate are not documented by any council approvals.” 

Neal continued: 

“Without a written agenda item and meeting minutes and a vote from 
council to verify, this will not be approved by the mayor or mayor pro tem 
as it is in violation of the law.” 

Neal continued: 

“To date no paperwork supporting what is charged/paid has paperwork. 
Action to remedy this issue has been given, provide documentation. Action 
has not been taken by the city secretary from February 2020 to present.” 

The document concluded with Neal’s comments below. (Note: Neal often 
refers to herself in the third person; underlines are from Neal.) 
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“Mayor Neal is taking the action of not approving the documents because they 
are not in line with the law. There is no refusal to act, or inability to act, there 
is a requirement of law to only do what the law allows, now or in the past. 
This timesheet does not provide city council’s approvals to be in line with 
what the law requires.” 

Later that day, in an effort to resolve the immediate timesheet/paycheck 
issue, McJunkin contacted the Weston Lakes Mayor pro tem. She suggested 
McJunkin come to her house the following day for a conference call with City 
Attorney Jay Zhang. The following day, McJunkin travelled (her day off, without 
pay) to Weston Lakes where they engaged in a conference call with Zhang. 
McJunkin explained the larger timesheet issue as well as how it related to the 
current pay period.  

Exhibit 17 includes two emails, the first is Zhang’s written approval later 
that day authorizing a paycheck be processed for McJunkin for the pay period 
ending July 31, 2020. That email also requested documentation previously 
submitted to Neal. He also requested that McJunkin provide documentation 
discussed during their telephone conversation.  

The second email under Exhibit 17 is McJunkin’s response to Zhang’s 
request sent Monday, August 3. That email to Zhang included the same 
documentation that had previously been provided on numerous occasions to Neal, 
included under Exhibits 11, 12, 13, 14, and 15. 

Per McJunkin’s suggestion, on October 27, 2020, the Weston Lakes City 
Council voted to codify the City Secretary’s existing terms and conditions of 
compensation Exhibit 18. The rate of pay included in that document was $18.00 
per hour – the same hourly rate of pay that had been in effect since October 1, 
2018, the beginning of the City’s 2019 fiscal year. Neal signed the document, 
dated October 27, 2020.  

Findings  

The investigation verified that for six months during 2020, beginning in 
February and continuing through July, Neal repeatedly questioned the origin and 
legitimacy of McJunkin’s compensation package. Specifically, she challenged 
McJunkin’s hourly rate of pay, overtime pay, and mileage for use of her personal 
vehicle while conducting City business. Although McJunkin had been paid at those 
rates since October 1, 2018, Neal challenged their legitimacy because it lacked 
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historical documentation verifying “a written agenda item and meeting notes and a 
vote by city council” 

The investigation relied on significant evidence to determined that Neal’s 
actions were intentional and created a hostile work environment for the City 
Secretary. The timing, nature, and duration of Neal’s action offer a reasonable 
conclusion, documented by evidence, that those actions were wholly avoidable and 
unnecessary, and had the effect of harassing a subordinate and creating a toxic, 
hostile work environment. 

The investigation findings are based on the following facts:  

• In the Notice of Disciplinary Action under Exhibit 16, presented to 
McJunkin on July 30, 2020, Neal actually uses the word “law” six different 
times as the basis for her disciplinary action against the City Secretary. In 
fact, the investigation has verified via legal opinion(s) that actions taken by 
the Mayor’s predecessor and City Council during the FY 2019 budget 
process were NOT UNLAWFUL. Their actions resulted in increasing the 
City Secretary’s rate of pay via a line item in the City’s annual budget.   
 

• For months Neal demanded that McJunkin produce a document that did not 
exist and ultimately took punitive action against her when she did not 
produce it.  
 

• Neal repeatedly ignored written documentation and antidotal information 
that demonstrated action by the former Mayor and City Council regarding 
City Secretary compensation was legitimate, including: 
 

1) Pre- and post-increase timesheets that demonstrated the date and amount 
of increase in the City Secretary’s pay rate for fiscal year 2019. 

 

2) Timesheets that demonstrated the City Secretary’s pay rate had been 
increased almost fourteen months prior to Neal’s election, and 
continued unchanged during 2020. 

 

3) Information that the former Mayor of Weston Lakes and its City Council 
incorporated the City Secretary’s annual salary, including its increased 
rate of pay, as a line item in the City’s FY 2019 budget. That approach 
was taken that year versus implementing the increase via an agenda item 
vote during a Council meeting. Contrary to Neal’s repeated allegations 



Page 23 of 35 
 

concerning the “law”, that action was determined by the City 
Attorney/Olson & Olson and others to be completely lawful.  
 

• Neal repeatedly elected to ignore a signed and dated document by her 
predecessor stipulating the City Secretary’s increased pay rate to $18.00 per 
hour.  
 

• Any good-faith concern regarding the process and timing for implementing 
the City Secretary’s pay increase for FY 2019 or other items in her 
compensation package (overtime stipulations, mileage reimbursement, etc.), 
could have been clarified by consulting with any member of the current 
Weston Lakes City Council as all five were members of the Council that 
developed the FY 2019 budget which result in the pay increase for the City 
Secretary.  

• Any good-faith concern regarding the City Secretary’s compensation could 
have been addressed at any time during 2020 by adding an agenda item to 
enable City Council to codify the City Secretary’s long-existing pay rate and 
terms of compensation. As noted under Exhibit 18, at McJunkin’s 
suggestion, that action was in fact approved by City Council during its 
October 2019 Council meeting. 

The investigation’s finding supported McJunkin’s allegations the Neal’s actions 
constituted harassment of a subordinate that resulted a hostile work environment. 

Disciplinary Action 

On Page 3 of her grievance letter to the Weston Lakes City Council, 
McJunkin alleges that in May 2020 Mayor Neal “accused (McJunkin) of violating 
Texas Penal Code Section 39.06 – Misuse of Official Information.” The 
investigation determined the following: 

In early 2020, McJunkin was working from her home due to concerns 
regarding Coronavirus. McJunkin’s work-assigned computer at her office and her 
personal computer at home were compatible, both supported by the Windows 10 
operating system. However, for her official work at home during this period, Neal 
insisted McJunkin take home and use an older, City-owned Compaq computer 
supported by a different operating system (Windows 7). McJunkin protested that 
the Compaq computer would likely be unreliable and pose challenges in the 
performance of her job responsibilities, including email communication. 
Nonetheless, Neal insisted without explanation that McJunkin use the Compaq 
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computer for her work at home, despite the fact that newer computers were 
available for use. 

On April 30, 2020, while stopping by the office, McJunkin received an email 
from an Alderman requesting a City Council workshop and providing a proposed 
agenda for that meeting. Ragle’s email to McJunkin included the following 
request: “Please forward in the interest of transparency and open communication.” 
Such requests are standard insofar as the City Secretary is typically the distributor 
of such email communications.  

Before leaving the office, McJunkin forwarded the Alderman’s email to 
Mayor Neal and other members of City Council via the City’s official email 
address. She also copied the email to her personal email address 

 in the event that further discussion of the topic ensued while 
working at her residence observing COVID-19 precautionary measures. According 
to McJunkin, this action insured there would be no potential technical issues 
regarding emails and computer compatibility. The Alderman’s and McJunkin’s 
emails are included under Exhibit 19. 

On May 4, without any prior discussion or warning, Neal entered 
McJunkin’s office and presented her with a document titled “Jenni McJunkin 
Discipline Form” Exhibit 20, which read as follows:  

“On May 1, 2020, I (Neal) discovered that an email from Alderman Ragle 
had been forwarded to myself and to all of council and to 

 A confidential email between council and the mayor 
has been compromised and sent to an outside source.”  

The “outside source” as detailed above, was McJunkin’s personal email address.  

According to the document, the source of the disciplinary action against McJunkin 
was Neal’s accusation that, as City Secretary, she had violated Texas Penal Code 
39.06 (b) Misuse of Official Information. The disciplinary form presented to 
McJunkin included the following language from Section (b) of the Texas Penal 
Code:  

“A public servant commits an offense if with intent to obtain a benefit or 
with intent to harm or defraud another, he discloses or uses information for a 
non-governmental purpose that: (1) he has access to by means of his office 
or employment, and (2) is not public.” (Exhibit 20 - Texas Penal Code 
Section 39.06) 
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___________________________________ 

Investigator Note: Exhibit 21 includes a rendering of the Texas Penal Code 39.06 
Section (e) Misuse of Official Information also states the following:  

“Except as provided by Subsection (f) (not applicable), an offense under 
this section is a felony of the third degree.” 

___________________________________ 

During the investigation, McJunkin’s stated she was unnerved and shaken by 
Neal’s accusations, particularly without any prior discussion or warning. She stated 
that she was “shocked” and “astounded” by being accused of violating the Texas 
Penal Code during the conduct of her job and of the potential impact on her 
employment. She admitted she was not aware at the time of her discussion with 
Neal that a violation of that statute is a third-degree felony offense in the State of 
Texas, as shown under Exhibit 21.  

McJunkin strongly denied Neal’s allegations. She also stated that Neal did 
not elaborate on how she (McJunkin) may have received a “benefit” or 
“defraud(ed)” another individual by her actions or how she misused her position or 
city property, as stated on the disciplinary form and in the statute. She stated that 
Neal did make much of the confidentiality of Ragle’s email, essentially using that 
point as the premise of her allegation and the disciplinary action. 

McJunkin also stated she felt intimidated by Neal’s threat to audit her 
computer for other “compromised” emails, stating she had “nothing to hide”.  That 
language in the disciplinary form reads as follows:  

“Review of your email is warranted. It must be determined which emails 
have been compromised, so that confidentiality may not be used if there is a 
request for public information…” 

Page 2 of the disciplinary form presented to McJunkin included space for her to 
respond to the following question: 

“What was the purpose of sending this email to  outside 
of the city?” 

McJunkin’s hand-written response on the form was as follows: 

“Because I was unable to receive the emails on the Compaq computer I was 
provided to use at home. I sent it to myself to be able to answer questions 
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from home. I was never contacted by any of Counsel or Mayor about this 
info.” 

Page 2 of the disciplinary form also included the following language: 

“Policy: No emails originating from or received may be reproduced, copied, 
printed, emailed, scanned, or sent to any entity other than it’s intended 
recipients within government. All emails and city correspondence are to 
be considered confidential.” 

During the investigation, McJunkin stated that she had never seen any policy 
requiring all City correspondence, including emails, to be considered confidential. 
Moreover, she questioned how “all emails and city correspondence (could) be 
considered confidential” since that would make such documents undiscoverable 
and ineligible for Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) requests.  

Below that language referencing “email policy” the document also included 
the following: 

“I agree to the policy stated above and will not violate it again.” Signature 
and date lines were included below that statement. 

McJunkin stated that she refused to sign the disciplinary form, stating her 
actions did not violate the law and that she could not agree to “again” not 
violating a policy she had never seen and was unaware of. She also stated again 
that, to her knowledge, City Council had never seen nor approved of such policy. 
She further stated that the City’s practice since prior to Neal’s election was not to 
classify all City correspondence as confidential unless it met some 
privileged/statutory exception.  

____________ 

Investigator Note: During their interviews, each member of City Council was 
asked the following questions: (1) Who makes policy for the City of Weston 
Lakes, and (2) Are you aware of a City policy that states, “All emails and city 
correspondence are to be considered confidential.”? Each member responded to 
those questions as follows: Question #1: City Council. Question #2: No.  

____________ 

Because McJunkin refused to sign the disciplinary form, as the conversation 
was concluding, Neal drew a line through the paragraph in the disciplinary form 
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relating to Penal Code 39.06. She asked if that was sufficient for McJunkin to sign 
the document. McJunkin again refused to sign the document. Neal then asked for 
the disciplinary form and told McJunkin she would return it with edits. The 
meeting ended. 

During their May 4 discussion, Neal stated that she had discussed the 
disciplinary action and form with an attorney in the Texas Municipal League 
(TML) office in Austin, Texas. Neal told McJunkin that the TML attorney was in 
agreement with her proposed disciplinary action as it related to Section 39.06. Neal 
included the following language in the disciplinary form:  

“Per TML: 

Emails are only made public after a specific, by the law, process is followed 
and records of who obtained what information is recorded at city hall. The 
ability to see the emails because of your job does not give you permission to 
send emails to alternative email addresses. City secretaries are not to share 
this information.” 

McJunkin noted that several times during the conversation Neal encouraged 
her to contact the TML legal office to verify her discussion with the TML attorney 
and to seek further explanation and clarification regarding the penal code. Later 
that day, following her discussion with Neal, McJunkin contacted the TML legal 
office via telephone and spoke with Scott Houston, General Counsel of the Texas 
Municipal League.  

McJunkin introduced herself to Houston and identified Texas Penal Code 
Section 39.06 as the topic of her call. She described the nature and subject of 
Ragle’s email (request for a workshop) and explained her rationale for forwarding 
the email to the Mayor, the City Council, and to her personal email address. As the 
discussion evolved between McJunkin and Houston, Neal, whose office is adjacent 
to McJunkin’s, overheard the conversation, entered McJunkin’s office, and 
immediately took over the conversation with Houston. (Note: At no point in the 
discussion did either McJunkin or Neal reveal to Houston that McJunkin had been 
presented with a disciplinary form accusing her of violating 39.06 (b) or that Neal 
had threatened a full audit of McJunkin’s email account for any additional 
“compromised” emails.) 

The central issue discussed by Neal and Houston was that of the 
confidentiality of Ragle’s email and the applicability of 39.06 to McJunkin’s act of 
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forwarding it to her personal email for aforementioned reasons. After listening to 
the Mayor’s position and rationale, Houston flatly disagreed with Neal stating, “I 
don’t think that’s a crime in any way, shape, or form.” He further added that “I’ve 
sent emails to my own personal Yahoo account, as well.”  

Neal responded by telling Houston that she had recently discussed the matter 
with another, unnamed TML attorney. She stated that attorney who supported her 
position and agreed with her that McJunkin’s action was “not okay”. Houston 
pressed Neal regarding the attorney’s identity. Neal replied only that it was a male 
in the TML legal office. Houston’s replied, “I don’t think Bill (only other male 
TML attorney) would have told you that.” He added that “I’m not sure what we’re 
dealing with here, but there’s nothing in state law that governs anything like this.” 

Houston then added the following comment: “But bottom-line answer is 
unless you (McJunkin) intended to do something funky with this then there’s no 
crime that has been committed. Now, whether or not it’s the way your boss, be it 
the City Council or the Mayor wants that to be you should adhere to whatever that 
recommendation is going forward.” Houston’s comment referred to the “policy” 
statement Neal had included in the disciplinary form, including that confidential 
email classification exceptions could potentially be made under Chapter 552 of the 
Texas Pubic Information Act (PIA) or invoking attorney/client privilege.  

As previously established, after the meeting on May 4, Neal took the 
disciplinary form from McJunkin, stating she would return it after making some 
edits.  

On May 11, McJunkin reminded Neal via email that she had not received the 
edited disciplinary form. She received no response. On May 18, two weeks after 
the discussion, McJunkin sent Neal another email reminder that she had yet to 
receive the disciplinary form. Exhibit 22.  

On May 18, Neal replied to McJunkin’s email, also under Exhibit 22 stating 
that the disciplinary form “will be sent when it is completed.” Neal’s email also 
stated the following: “As a reminder, Scott Houston from TML legal agreed with 
all language on the form (bolded for emphasis). Per Scott’s professional advice, 
a provision for information requests will be added.” McJunkin stated that Neal’s 
comment that “June 4 is the deadline to send the document” was confusing. 

__________________ 
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Investigator Note: The investigator reviewed an audio recording of the May 4 
telephone conversation between McJunkin and Houston, joined (uninvited) mid-
discussion by Neal. Neal’s comment that Houston “agreed with all language on the 
form”, referenced above and included in Neal’s May 18 email to McJunkin, is 
false. 

____________________ 

McJunkin stated she was concerned by Neal’s comments in her May 18 
email and about her delay in returning the edited disciplinary form. Specifically, 
McJunkin stated that Neal’s comments about Houston’s agreement with “all 
language in the form” was confusing 1) because that was NOT what Houston said 
during the telephone conversation on May 4, and 2) Houston could not agree with 
“all the language in the form” because he never saw the disciplinary form. 
Moreover, Houston was never told during the telephone discussion that Neal was 
citing the Texas Penal Code as the basis for McJunkin being issued a written 
disciplinary notice.  

Neal’s statement that Houston “agreed with all language on the form” was 
factually incorrect. In fact, Houston explicitly stated that conduct described in the 
telephone discussion “in any way, shape, or form” was not a violation of Texas 
Penal Code 39.06, as described in the discussion.  

Neal returned the disciplinary form to McJunkin on My 28, 2020 (signed on 
May 8) with minimal edits. The original document presented to McJunkin on May 
4 is included under Exhibit 20 as item A. The document returned to McJunkin on 
May 28 is included under Exhibit 20 as item B. All edits included in the returned 
document item B are highlighted. 

______________ 

Investigator Note: When McJunkin received the edited form from Neal on May 
28, she stated that, as is her customary routine, the form was immediately entered 
into her personnel file (hard copy) and in City’s computer in electronic format. She 
was requested during the investigation to provide a hard copy of that form. 
Unexplainably, when she searched, McJunkin stated that both versions of the form 
were “missing”, that neither was in the location it had been entered.  

McJunkin stated she had no idea what happened to either form. However, 
she also stated that she had made a copy of the unedited formed that she received 
on May 4 (Item A) with her telephone camera and had made a hard copy of the 
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edited version she had received from Neil on May 28 (Item B). Apparently neither 
of those documents would be available if McJunkin had not taken those actions. 

  As of the date of submittal for this report, neither the original nor the edited 
version of that document is in McJunkin’s personnel file or the City computer file.  

______________ 

On multiple levels, the investigation found that Neal’s action against 
McJunkin was wholly inappropriate, contributed to the creation of a hostile work 
environment, and resulted in significant personal stress and concern for her job. 
Those actions violated arguably the most fundamental aspects of personnel 
supervisory and human resource management: honesty, fairness, and open 
communication.  

In this matter, the evidence clearly supports McJunkin’s allegations that 
Neal leveled serious, wholly unsupported allegations against McJunkin. Her 
attempts at disciplinary action were malicious, completely unfounded, and wholly 
unsupported by facts.  

Summarized, those findings are based on evidence that demonstrated the 
following:  

• With no explanation, Neal denied McJunkin access to a City computer that 
was compatible with her (McJunkin’s) work computer and with her personal 
computer while she worked at home during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 

• With no prior warning or discussion, Neal essentially ambushed McJunkin 
with a significant personnel action, specifically, issuing her a disciplinary 
action form; at a minimum, such action would typically be expected to 
follow discussions or alternative, lesser remedial actions designed to address 
a perceived performance deficiency. 
 

• Neal accused McJunkin of violating the Texas Penal Code 39.06 (b) – 
Misuse of Public Information (a third-degree felony). After presenting the 
disciplinary form to McJunkin, Neal essentially dismissed the allegation by 
striking through it on the form. (Note: Neal struck the reference to 39. 06 (b) 
prior to speaking with the TML attorney. 
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• Contrary to Neal’s allegation, the lead attorney for the Texas Municipal 
League (TML) offered his opinion that McJunkin violated no regulation 
under the Texas Penal Code.    
 

• McJunkin’s discipline form demanded that she agree to not again violate a 
policy that she had never seen and didn’t know existed. 
 

• No member of City Council was aware of the policy referenced in 
McJunkin’s disciplinary form regarding the classification of “all emails and 
city correspondence.” 
 

• Neal threatened to audit McJunkin’s work computer in search of 
“compromised” emails. 
 

• Neal’s actions and threats caused McJunkin significant distress and worry 
about her job status. 

 

 

Rachel Durham 

An additional incident occurred in the late stages of the investigation that 
further supported McJunkin’s claim that Neal’s actions created a hostile work 
environment by creating obstacles to the performance of her job as City Secretary.   

Specifically, on Monday March 15, Neal presented McJunkin with a time 
sheet for Rachel Durham. Durham had recently been employed with the city as a 
part-time Emergency Management Administrative Assistant. The time sheet 
presented by Neal to McJunkin detailed Durham’s time worked the previous two 
weeks, her first on the job. At that point, McJunkin replied that she had yet to 
receive Durham’s standard new hire forms; therefore, she could not 
administratively on-board the new employee or generate her initial paycheck. Neal 
replied that she (Neal) would keep Durham’s personal information because 
Durham “did not want (McJunkin) to see it.”  

Following Neal’s refusal to provide the required forms, McJunkin composed 
an email dated March 15 to City Council and to the Mayor explaining the situation, 
her dilemma, and her sense of urgency for producing Durham’s paycheck Exhibit 
23. For apparent support for her position, Neal also stated that McJunkin could 
contact the City Attorney at Olson & Olson, LLP, the City’s law firm, if she 
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needed clarification or additional information to support her (Neal’s) position on 
the matter. A response from the Mayor pro tem to McJunkin’s email is also 
included under Exhibit 23.   

For context, two of the City Secretary’s primary job functions are (1) to 
enter all new hire information and maintain all personnel records for city 
employees, and (2) to generate bank checks for the city, typically for payroll and 
accounts payable purposes. In this instance, McJunkin reminded Neal that she 
could not generate a payroll check for Durham because she had not received 
standard new hire documents statutorily required to establish eligibility for 
employment in the United States. They included a completed I-9 Form with 
identification required to verify the identity and employment authorization of all 
individuals hired for employment. Those documents also included a completed W4 
Form with the individual’s social security number and correct amount of federal 
taxes to be withheld from an employee’s wages. 

As previously established, at Neal’s urging, McJunkin contacted Katie 
Rutherford, Weston Lakes City Attorney with Olson and Olson. After discussing 
the issue, Rutherford agreed that the documents held by Neal were in fact required 
for McJunkin to process Durham as a new employee and generate her initial 
paycheck. Following an additional call from Rutherford, Neal presented the 
required information to McJunkin. Neal’s “explanation” to McJunkin at that point 
was that she was still “working on” the forms and that McJunkin had nothing to do 
with Emergency Management. It is unclear as to what Neal might have been 
“working on” with information such as Durham’s I-9 and W4 forms. Moreover, 
her comments ignored that fact that the City Secretary is the repository for all 
personnel records and city-related information and documentation, including 
Emergency Management. 

At that point, after Neal provided the required new hire documents, it was 
late in the workday. McJunkin then contacted Durham to notify her that she had 
just received the appropriate forms. However, given the delay in receiving the 
information from Neal, McJunkin also informed Durham that there was 
insufficient time to generate the check and obtain the required signatures for her to 
receive her check that day (Monday). Instead, McJunkin told Durham she would 
receive her paycheck on Wednesday, the next regularly scheduled work day for the 
City Secretary. Durham said she understood and expressed appreciation for 
McJunkin’s efforts. McJunkin also stated that Durham denied having told Neal she 
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did not want McJunkin to have access to her personal information, particularly that 
required for onboarding and payroll processing. 

The evidence determines that this incident was wholly unnecessary and 
avoidable. Neal’s failure to provide the City Secretary with legally required 
documentation for on-boarding Durham and processing her paycheck resulted in 
additional time and unnecessary expense. It ultimately required the involvement of 
the City Attorney and the Mayor pro tem to resolve the issue. It subjected the City 
Secretary to additional stress and unnecessary barriers to performing her job. And 
finally, Neal’s actions resulted in the unnecessary delay of a new employee 
receiving her first paycheck from the City.   

____________________________________ 

Investigator Note: McJunkin contacted the investigator on the evening of March 
15. As she related many of the details in this narrative, McJunkin was clearly 
emotionally upset from the encounter with Neal. She stated that she was upset not 
only by the events that day as described above but also by Neal’s dismissive 
actions and hostile tone and language toward her. She concluded by stating she 
“didn’t know how much more she could take.” 

______________________________________ 

Conclusions 

Documentation and first-hand accounts obtained through this investigation 
support McJunkin’s allegations that Neals’s actions created a hostile work 
environment designed to force her resignation. McJunkin is an eight-year 
employee of the City with a satisfactory record of performance, prior to and 
subsequent Neal’s election in November 2019. After overt efforts in early 2020 to 
have McJunkin terminated were unsuccessful, the evidence demonstrates that Neal 
engaged in a concerted effort over an extended period of time to threaten, 
intimidate, and otherwise create a hostile environment designed to affect 
McJunkin’s resignation.  

A representative summary of evidence supporting this determination 
includes the following: 

• Accused McJunkin of committing a third-degree felony without evidence. 
 

• Accused McJunkin of fraud without evidence. 
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• Verbally and in writing, subjected McJunkin to threatening, bullying attacks.   
 

• Challenged McJunkin’s terms of compensation (pay rate, overtime rate, 
travel pay, etc.) that had been in effect months prior to Neal’s election, 
despite the existence of documentation supporting those terms. 
 

• Subjected McJunkin to petty, arguable vindictive actions such as: 
 

o Issued McJunkin a substandard computer (Compaq) with an 
outdated, incompatible operating system (Windows 7) when an 
alternative, updated model was available. 
 

o Failed to issue McJunkin a key to the office lobby, despite 
specific direction from City Council, creating substantial and 
unnecessary inconvenience and hardship. 

 
• On at least two occasions, subjected McJunkin to wholly unwarranted and 

meritless disciplinary measures.  

A legal determination in this matter is beyond the scope of this investigation; 
nonetheless, such conduct arguably meets the classic definition of constructive 
discharge, which occurs when an employee is forced to resign because the 
employer has made working conditions toxic and intolerable. Exhibit 24 

At a minimum, Neal’s conduct toward McJunkin, a subordinate and 
municipal official, was demonstrably offensive and unprofessional. In addition, 
while Neal’s actions have to date not resulted in McJunkin’s resignation, they have 
in fact produced personal stress and mental anxiety to the point which ultimately 
resulted in McJunkin’s memorandum to City Council requesting immediate and 
specific remedies.  

McJunkin’s letter to City Council dated January 2, 2021, petitioned the 
Weston Lakes City Council to immediately provide relief and redress to her 
concerns. This investigation finds substantial support and merit to McJunkin’s 
over-arching claim of a hostile work environment.  

In conclusion, the purpose of this investigation has been to determine the 
veracity of McJunkin’s allegations. That determination has been rendered. 
However, this investigation and report is not intended to offer a legal opinion or 
determination whether such conduct is in violation of Title VII of the 1964 Civil 



Page 35 of 35 
 

Rights Act. Likewise, while at least one witness supported McJunkin’s allegation 
that Neal referred to her age (protected class under federal legislation) in efforts to 
terminate her employment, this report also does not offer an opinion regarding a 
legal violation of the 1967 Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA). 
 

 

 























Narrative 
The following narrative describes efforts to engage and communicate with Mayor 
Ramon Neal to investigate allegation levied against her by Jenni McJunkin, 
Weston Lakes City Secretary.  

_______________ 

Overview 
From February 26 through March 15, 2021, Mayor Ramona Neal was 

unresponsive to efforts by the investigator to gain her cooperation and participation 
in an investigation of allegations filed by Jenni McJunkin. She failed to respond to 
numerous attempts to verify and confirm a time and location to meet with the 
investigator. Numerous letters and emails to Neal were unanswered or deferred. 
Moreover, despite explicit instructions to the contrary from the City Attorney and 
the investigator, Neal repeatedly attempted to use her personal attorney as an 
intermediary and as a spokesperson during that process. In addition to this 
narrative, Exhibit 2 includes a detailed timeline and supporting attachments 
(letters and emails) documenting efforts to engage Neal during the investigation.  

In a letter to Neal dated February 26, 2021, the City Attorney, on behalf of 
the Weston Lakes City Council, communicated a range of expectations she would 
be expected to follow during the investigation. She was advised that she should 
make “reasonable arrangements of time and place for (her) interview...” She was 
also advised that “the City wants to hear directly from you and that Counsel 
(personal attorney) cannot speak for you.” As summarized above and detailed 
below, Neal failed to meet those expectations which was deemed to have had the 
effect of unnecessarily impeding, distracting, and delaying the investigation.  

A detailed timeline of communications and copies of letters and emails 
documenting efforts to obtain Neal’s cooperation are included under this tab 
(Exhibit 2).  

The Investigation 
As the investigation evolved, Neal was tentatively scheduled to be 

interviewed on March 11, 2021. In a letter dated February 26 and a follow-up 
email dated March 6 (Exhibit 2), the investigator requested Neal confirm the 



tentatively scheduled March 11 meeting and propose a suitable meeting location. 
The investigator received no reply from Neal to either of those requests.  

Several days later, the investigator still had received no response from Neal 
confirming the March 11 meeting and proposing a meeting location in the Weston 
Lakes area. Accordingly, in a letter dated March 10, the investigator informed 
Neal that, as a result of her unresponsiveness, the meeting scheduled March 11 
would not occur. As detailed in the attached timeline, that deferral occurred after 
almost two weeks of unsuccessful efforts to confirm Neal’s interview and propose 
a meeting location. 

At this point, Neal’s interview was largely all that remained to complete the 
interview cycle of the investigation. To expedite the process, the investigator’s 
March 10 letter to Neal proposed March 16 as an alternative meeting date. He also 
volunteered to secure an acceptable meeting location in the Weston Lakes area. 
Again, the investigator requested a direct response from Neal to confirm the 
proposed alternative meeting date.  

Neal again failed to reply as requested to the investigator’s March 10 letter 
and proposal. Instead, she forwarded the proposal to her personal attorney who, in 
turn, contacted the investigator.  

As previously established, in his letter to Neal dated February 26, the City 
Attorney emphasized that “the City wants to hear from you and that (legal) 
Counsel cannot speak for you.” Accordingly, after being contacted by Neal’s 
attorney, on March 10 the investigator immediately sent a follow-up email to Neal 
noting her failure reply thus far to any of his communications since the inception 
of the investigation. It reiterated that no representative or spokesperson would be 
recognized for any participant in the investigation. (Note: The investigator had 
previously agreed to the presence of Neal’s personal attorney during her interview, 
provided “strict adherence to conditions (previously) stipulated in a letter to you 
from the City Attorney…”) The investigator again requested confirmation of the 
proposed March 16 meeting from Neal. 

The investigator received no reply to his March 10 communication(s) to 
Neal, including her response to investigator’s proposed alternative May 16 meeting 
date. Therefore, via email on March 15, again less than twenty-four hours prior to 
the proposed meeting date/time, the investigator notified Neal via email (Exhibit 
2) that failure to confirm her presence at the proposed March 16 meeting by 3:00 
PM that day would be viewed as her having “no interest in participating in this 



investigation”. The investigator reiterated that a final investigative report would be 
filed with the City Attorney, with or without her input. The investigator’s March 
15 email concluded with the following statement: 

“Please understand this is my final communication on this matter.” 

At 2:57 PM on March 15, Neal sent the following response (her first direct 
communication with the investigator since the inception of the investigation): 

“Neither date (March 16 or 17) is agreeable with my schedule. Please accept 
communications from my attorney on all matters. After the next city council 
meeting (March 22) is my next availability.” 

Neal’s reply was viewed as unresponsive. Despite prior instruction, she 
continued to defer to her personal attorney, refusing to engage in any direct or 
meaningful communication with the investigator. Her continued failure to agree to 
an interview date would have resulted in an unreasonable, unnecessary, and 
unacceptable delay in concluding an investigation that had already significantly 
exceeded its projected completion date. 

Concluding, every reasonable effort was extended to encourage Neal to 
provide her perspectives and responses to McJunkin’s allegations. She was 
provided ample opportunity to do so. Neal was repeatedly advised that her 
participation in the investigation was voluntary, but that a final report on the 
findings of the investigation would be completed and submitted to the City 
Attorney, with or without her input.  

In the end, Neal failed to either cooperate or participate in the investigation. 
She failed to engage with the investigator and repeatedly deferred to a third party. 
Efforts to enlist her cooperation and participation concluded on March 15, 2021. 
The investigator notified the City Attorney that a final report would be submitted. 

The investigator also updated City Council via email on March 15 regarding 
the status of the investigation, including Neal’s continued failure to cooperate or 
participate in a reasonable manner. (Exhibit 2) 

_________________________ 

Investigator Note: In a letter dated February 11, 2021, the investigator 
received an unsolicited communication from Randy Gunter (see Exhibit 2), an 
attorney who identified himself as Ramona Neal’s “representative”. Gunter stated 
he “will be (the investigator’s) point of contact for communications to her (Neal).” 



Gunter stated Neal’s willingness to cooperate in the investigation, concluding, “I 
look forward to working with you on this matter.”  

Prior to and during the investigation, Neal had been repeatedly informed that 
no “representative, intermediary, or spokesperson” would be recognized for any 
participant in the investigation. Nonetheless, Neal continued was unresponsive to 
direct contact with the investigator and deferred to her personal attorney. Her 
March 15 email to the investigator, her only direct communication during the 
investigation, included the following comment: “Please accept communications 
from my attorney on all matters.”  

Neal’s continued reference to and insistence on the involvement of her 
personal attorney would have been explored in detail had she been interviewed 
during the investigation.  

____________________________ 

 



























































  





     
    

 

          

                 

               

                  

                   

                     

                

      

                 

                        

                 

               

                        

                  

                     

              

                   

                   

                 

                  

                    

                      

                     

 

                    

                       

                      

                    

               

                     

                     

                         

                     

                  

             

                      

       

           

                

        

     



  





        

 

     
 

     
 

 

   







    

 
 

  

 

 

  

 

   
 





  







  





  





  
     

     
     

 

                 
             

               

    

   

      

  

 



  





              
                   

                  
          

              

        





                    
      

 

                    
   

              

            

                      
                        
         

 
                    
                
  

                     
                      

     

                

                       
                      

                   
                     

                    
                     

                   

                   

                    
                     

   

                           
                         

                         
            



                    
                      

       

                     
                   

                    
                        

                      
    

                         
                      

   

                      

 

  



  




























































































